
United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

Geneva, Switzerland 
24 February to 27 April 1958 

 
 

Documents: 
A/CONF.13/C.3/SR.6-10 

 
Summary Records of the 

6th to 10th Meetings of the Third Committee 
 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law of  
The Sea, Volume V (Third Committee (High Seas: Fishing: Conservation of Living Resources)) 

 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



Sixth meeting — 12 March 1958

exist because of the unequal economic resources of
States; the large maritime countries could fish in all the
waters of the globe and in effect deny to other States
the possibility of fishing even in their own waters.
39. The Peruvian delegation was therefore unable to
accept the draft articles on fisheries and conservation,
because they failed to accord due recognition to the
rights of the coastal State.

The meeting rose at 5.15 p.m.

SIXTH MEETING

Wednesday, 12 March 1958, at 3.15 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. TSURUOKA (JAPAN), MR. RIGAL
HAITI), MR. KRYLOV (UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST
REPUBLICS), MR. HERRINGTON (UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA) AND MR. KASUMA (INDONESIA)

1. Mr. TSURUOKA (Japan) said that the Committee's
responsibility was very great, for fish constituted an im-
portant source of wholesome and cheap food. Japan
had a great interest in the success of the Conference
and in the clarification of the law of the sea, for it was
the world's leading fishing country, whose catch ac-
counted for nearly 20 per cent of the world total. Al-
most 90 per cent of the animal protein content of the
Japanese population's diet came from fish. Moreover,
the fishing industry gave employment to many Japa-
nese, and marine products formed an important item in
Japan's list of exports. Naturally, then, Japan had a
strong interest in the maintenance and increase of the
productivity of the living resources of the sea. For that
purpose, the Japanese Government was applying a
rational policy of exploitation and was collaborating
with other countries.
2. Commenting on the draft articles prepared by the
International Law Commission, he said it was a recog-
nized principle of international law that regulatory meas-
ures affecting fishing on the high seas were only valid
if based, firstly, on conclusive scientific data and,
secondly, on the consent of the countries concerned. The
practice of States confirmed that principle. He was
pleased to observe that the draft articles recognized in
most cases that a scientific basis was one of the neces-
sary conditions for the adoption of measures of conser-
vation ; he added, however, that the notion of conser-
vation itself might need more thorough scientific study.
3. On the other hand the articles, by recognizing a spe-
cial position for coastal States, departed from the rule
that regulatory measures governing fishing on the high
seas were valid only in respect of nations consenting
thereto. It was hard to understand the reasons for that
departure. The mere geographical position of a coastal
State did not by itself constitute evidence of an interest

in the conservation of the living resources, or proof of
superior scientific knowledge. Furthermore, it was con-
trary both to the principle of the freedom of the high
seas and to universal international custom relating to
rules governing fishing on the high seas to give coastal
States the right to regulate such fishing unilaterally,
even if only on a provisional basis pending an arbitral
award.
4. If a coastal State was interested in the conservation
of living resources in neighbouring waters, and if the
necessity of conservation measures was based on scien-
tific findings, it would surely have no difficulty in work-
ing out an agreement with the country interested in
conserving the same resources. It might be objected
that such an agreement would not be easy to reach ; in
fact, however, past international disputes over fisheries
had nearly all arisen in cases where a country had
claimed to impose its own rules in the absence of a
really sound scientific basis. Where such rules had a
scientific basis, bilateral and multilateral conventions
had been concluded and put into operation.
5. It might be argued that political or other reasons
iustified the special position of coastal States, and un-
fortunately some countries had taken it upon them-
selves to regulate fishing in the high seas unilaterally.
They had gone so far as to discriminate against foreign
fishermen on the high seas, either by arresting them or
by seizing their ships. Such action showed that there
was a great danger in giving coastal States the right to
reflate fishing on the high seas unilaterally, on poli-
tical or other grounds, which in themselves had nothing
to do with the true conception or the conservation of
the living resources of the sea.

6. Mr. RIGAL (Haiti) said that the States participating
in the Conference were not classed according to wealth,
size of population or stage of development; all were
treated as sovereign equals.
7. Commenting on the articles prepared by the Inter-
national Law Commission, he said that the provisions
defining; an island (article 10) failed to deal with the
case of land areas surrounded by water but not per-
manently above high water mark. Secondly, the defini-
tion of " high seas " (article 26, para. 1) meant little
so long as the breadth of the territorial sea had not it-
self been defined. It would be consistent with sound
practice to embody all definitions in a separate defining
clause ; the codification proper should be concerned ex-
clusively with detailed rules and contain the provisions
relating to their observance.
8. Subject to those remarks, Haiti supported the draft
as a whole. The breadth of the territorial sea should
not be settled arbitrarily by the coastal State ; in his
delegation's opinion it should be fixed at six miles.

9. Mr. KRYLOV (IMon of Soviet Socialist Republics)
said that his delegation was wholeheaitedly in favour of
the principle of the conservation of the living resources
of the high seas and considered that the solution
of the problem of the international regulation of fishing
on the basis of the composition and size of fish stocks
in any area of the high seas should be sought through
international co-operation. He noted that it was uni-
versally recognized that the coastal State had an exclu-
sive right to regulate fishing in its territorial waters.



8 Summary records

The natural resources of the high seas, however, could
be freely exploited by all States. Unfortunately, the
experience of the past ten years had revealed the need
for regulating fishing because, owing to modern large-
scale fishing techniques and irrational fishing methods,
fish stocks in certain areas such as the North Sea had
been considerably depleted. Accordingly, a number of
international fishing agreements between the States di-
rectly concerned had been concluded in respect of
several areas of the high seas. In certain cases, however,
the existing system of agreements failed to protect cer-
tain species from extinction and in others the coastal
State was helpless to prevent foreign nationals from ex-
ploiting stocks of fish.
10. The articles before the Committee were based on
contemporary doctrine — article 49 was a particularly
good example — and on the current practice of States.
Certain articles had been drafted in the light of modern
fishing techniques and trends and the draft as a whole
would provide a sound basis for the Committee's work
since it was designed to protect the living resources of
the high seas and at the same time ensure freedom of
fishing on the high seas. The USSR had been one of
the first countries to lay a scientific basis for the con-
servation of the living resources of the sea. It main-
tained dozens of institutes engaged in marine biology
research, fishing techniques, fish-processing and
oceanography.
11. He drew attention to the articles which were in-
tended to proclaim the equal right of all States to ex-
ploit the living resources of the high seas and recalled
that the first of three articles on fishing drafted by the
Commission at its third session in 1951 had stated that
in no circumstances might any area of the high seas be
closed to the nationals of other States wishing to engage
in fishing activities ;* that, in the USSR's opinion, had
been a sound statement of principle. The report before
the Committee, however, contained references to the
principle of " abstention " according to which a group
of States could announce that a certain species was
being exhausted and in that way deprive other States of
the right to fish that species and to participate in ex-
ploiting the resources of the high seas on a footing of
equality with other States. Clearly then, the principle
of abstention was at variance with the principle of
equality of rights and the concept of freedom of fishing
on the high seas. In the USSR's opinion no discrimi-
nation should be allowed against relative " newcomers "
in fishing grounds already being exploited by other
States. The world was in a dynamic stage of develop-
ment, increasing numbers of new independent States
were being formed and the principle of abstention
should not be used to prevent them from co-operating
in the exploitation of the living resources of the high
seas.
12. He noted that the problem raised in article 54, para-
graph 1, had been given special attention at the Rome
Conference of 1955 2 at which no definite conclusions
had been reached. One group of States had felt that the

1 Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixth Session,
Supplement No. 9 (A/1858), p. 19.

2 Report of the International Technical Conference on the
Conservation of the Living Resources of the Sea (United
Nations publication, Sales No. : 1955.II.B.2), paras. 44 to 48.

coastal State should be regarded as having a special in-
terest in the conservation of the living resources of the
sea adjacent to its shores and should take steps to con-
trol and maintain stocks in that area. Another group,
however, had considered that the coastal State should
provide for the conservation of the living resources of
the seas adjacent to its shores only with the agreement
of other countries. The very existence of that difference
of opinion indicated the difficulties involved. The
USSR delegation felt that a solution of the problem
would have to take account of geographical factors as
well as of the behaviour of various species of fish.
13. In conclusion, he said that the articles relating to
the settlement of disputes between States were out of
place in the draft, and for that reason he would sup-
port the Mexican proposal (A/CONF.13/C.3/L.1). The
deletion of such articles would improve the chances of
reaching agreement on the articles embodying the sub-
stance of contemporary international law of the sea. In
any event, ample provision for arbitral procedure had
been made in other international agreements, and the
elimination of arbitration provisions from the draft
would be consistent with the recommendations of the
Rome Conference of 1955.

14. Mr. HERRINGTON (United States of America)
described the expansion of the fishing industry and the
improvement of fishing techniques in the United States,
but said that early in the twentieth century declining
yields had nevertheless become apparent. Recognition
of the need for conservation measures had led to the
conclusion of a number of successful international con-
servation conventions, providing for co-operation be-
tween the States concerned. Those conventions had
resulted in the discovery of the causes of the decline in
yields and in the formulation of measures to restore the
productivity and yield of fisheries. Additional agree-
ments of a similar kind covering other fisheries in the
North Pacific and North Atlantic had been concluded as
the need arose.
15. In recent years, however, the intensity of fishing
and efficiency of modern methods had led to a grow-
ing demand for suitable conservation measures of world-
wide scope, and it was in response to that demand that
the Rome Conference of 1955 had been convened.
16. It was an accepted fact that the optimum or maxi-
mum sustainable yield from a stock of fish could not be
obtained if the stock were fished too intensively. On the
other hand it had been proved in recent years that over-
regulation could also reduce the yield and waste the
productivity of a particular stock. The desire to achieve
a proper balance between those two extremes had led
to the modern concept of conservation which was re-
flected in the definition contained in draft article 50.
17. It was his delegation's understanding that the draft
articles as a whole were intended to constitute a system
of rules designed to regulate the exercise of the freedom
of fishing on the high seas so as to ensure the maxi-
mum sustainable supply of food or other useful pro-
ducts from the sea (A/3159, article 50 and commen-
tary). As such, they should strike a balance between
under- and over-regulation and should therefore en-
courage the restoration of resources at present over-
fished, prevent over-fishing in the future and encourage
full utilization of currently under-utilized resources.



Sixth meeting — 12 March 1958

Articles 51 to 59 were designed to facilitate the formu-
lation and administration of conservation measures and
postulated technical co-operation between all the States
concerned. Such co-operation was necessary if the
full potential yield of the living resources of the sea was
to be realized for the benefit of mankind.
18. He reviewed the responsibilities, rights and interests
set forth in the articles in question. His Government
was of the opinion that, with one exception, each of
those provisions was an important element in the sys-
tem of rules that the Committee was seeking to formu-
late. The one exception was article 55, which seemed
unnecessary in view of the provisions of other articles.
19. At the previous meeting the representative of Peru
had argued in support of control by the coastal State
over fishery resources in a broad belt of water adjacent
to its coast on the grounds that the nutrients supporting
marine life in that belt had originated in the land ter-
ritory of that State. Actually, however, the movements
of vast masses of water carried the nutrients contained
in the oceans over long distances and hence it could
not be contended that most of the marine life along
any coast was dependent on the substances drained
from the territory of the adjacent coastal State.
20. The same speaker, discussing the effect of fishing
on certain stocks of fish, had referred to the effect of
fishing on local halibut stocks in the North Pacific be-
fore 1910 as an illustration of the danger of exhaustion
of resources by fishing. However, that depletion had oc-
curred long before the conservation principles now un-
der consideration had been developed. Since that time,
Canada and the United States had carried out a joint
conservation programme which had more than restored
the yield of the halibut stocks to earlier levels. It had
also been suggested that the yield of the tuna stocks in
the eastern Pacific Ocean had been reduced by over-
fishing. Those tuna stocks were under continuing study
by the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission,
which would ensure that necessary conservation meas-
ures would be applied if and when needed. The avail-
able evidence indicated that there was no danger of
over-fishing ; indeed, certain species were being under-
fished.
21. The International Law Commission's proposals
concerning conservation provided a sound basis for the
Committee's work though some of the proposals would
have to be elaborated and certain new rules would have
to be added to meet specific needs. For example, the
proposals regarding the settlement of disputes should
be stated in more precise language to ensure the effective-
ness and proper use of article 53. A compulsory, speedy
and final review of the facts to determine the existence
of conditions which would justify action under the ar-
ticle appeared to be the only way of preventing long
delays in applying the necessary conservation measures
if agreement was not reached. Articles 57, 58 and 59,
which were intended to provide that review, were in-
adequate because they failed to stipulate in sufficiently
clear terms the nature and scope of disputes to be
dealt with and because they failed to lay down suffi-
ciently clear standards to guide the arbitral commis-
sions in making their awards.
22. One new element which his Government consid-
ered essential was a rule regulating the exercise of the

freedom to fish which would encourage States to under-
take conservation programmes. The new element, which
had been called " abstention ", was a procedure which
would provide an incentive to States to build up, or
restore and maintain the productivity of stocks of fish
under certain special conditions. The development of a
procedure of that kind had become increasingly impor-
tant and urgent in view of the increasing range of fish-
ing fleets and developments in fishery science.

23. He referred to the comments of the United States
Government on the report on the regime of the high
seas prepared by the International Law Commission at
its seventh session.3 In those comments his Govern-
ment had proposed what had since come to be known
as the " principle of abstention ", which was referred
to in the Commission's commentary on article 53. In
his Government's opinion, express rules should be for-
mulated to govern the practical operation of the prin-
ciple. Disagreements concerning the application of the
principle could, of course, be dealt with in the manner
contemplated in articles 57, 58 and 59.

24. The draft articles should also be supplemented in
another very important respect. A rule should be for-
mulated which would clarify the manner in which
measures promulgated by a State or States would be en-
forced when they became applicable to the fishermen
of other States, as under article 53, for example.
25. His Government believed that, with the amend-
ments he had described, the Commission's proposals
would constitute a new and effective system for the
conservation of the living resources of the high seas.
26. In conclusion, he said that there might be other
problems involving special economic circumstances
which deserved recognition in international law. The
Commission had referred to one of those possibilities in
the commentary which followed article 59 in connexion
with claims to exclusive fishing rights in cases where a
nation was primarily dependent on the coastal fisheries
for its livelihood. The United States was aware that
special economic situations had received little attention
at international meetings and would be interested to ob-
tain any facts concerning such situations and to learn
the views of other delegations.

27. Mr. KASUMA (Indonesia) said that the principles
which the Committee would formulate would have an
important bearing on fisheries and on the food supply
of the world. As a country whose territory consisted of
one vast archipelago — the largest in the world — In-
donesia was naturally fully aware of the responsibility
which the possession of that immense coastline and sea
involved from the point of view of satisfying the popu-
lation's nutritional and economic needs.
28. Fish were a very important factor in the diet of the
Indonesian people, and would become even more im-
portant as the Government's plans for raising the stand-
ard of living matured. Accordingly, his delegation sup-
ported the view that the coastal State had a special,
vital interest in the living resources of its maritime
domain. At the same time, those resources were needed

3 See Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1956,
vol. II (A/CN.4/SER.A./1956/Add.l), pp. 91 et seq., especi-
ally comment on p. 93.



10 Summary records

as a contribution to the food supply of the world at
large.
29. Now, it was a familiar truth that stages of develop-
ment of fisheries, research techniques and enterprises
varied widely from region to region. The object of the
Conference should not be to lay down a rigid set of
principles embodied in a list of articles, but to make
it possible for areas with highly developed techniques to
set the pace for areas with less-developed techniques.
30. Inasmuch as over-fishing or over-exploitation were
potential sources of disputes, the Committee should, for
the purpose of avoiding such disputes, recommend the
conclusion of agreements between neighbouring coastal
States concerning their respective interests in the living
resources of particular maritime areas. Indonesia would
be able to conclude such agreements in the near future,
since it was at roughly the same stage as its neighbours
in the development of methods of technical research and
exploitation. He hoped that the principles to be adopted
by the Conference would be such as to encourage the
conclusion of regional agreements.
31. With regard to the conservation of the living re-
sources of the sea, he said that each coastal State should
make regulations governing its own waters, the possi-
bility being left open to neighbouring coastal States to
enter into conservation agreements relating to areas of
common interest. Such measures should be based on
technical and practical, as well as on purely scientific
data.
32. His delegation supported the views expressed by
the representative of India at the 5th meeting of the
Third Committee on the subject of conservation, and
those of the representative of Burma, who had stressed,
at the 4th meeting of the Fourth Committee, the im-
portance of bottom fishes and sedentary fisheries.

The meeting rose at 4.45 p.m.

SEVENTH MEETING

Thursday, 13 March 1958, at 3 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. WALL (UNITED KINGDOM), MR.
DE LA PRADELLE (MONACO), MR. THURMER (NETHER-
LANDS), MR. HULT (SWEDEN) AND MR. MICHIELSEN
(BELGIUM)

1. Mr. WALL (United Kingdom) said that both coastal
fishing and deep-sea fishing were important industries
in the United Kingdom. In addition, the United King-
dom was responsible for the government of many over-
seas territories whose fishing economies were as yet
undeveloped, or at least not fully developed, and whose
interests had to be protected. His Government real-
ized the importance of conservation measures and for
that reason all the fishing areas of vital concern to its

population were regulated by international conservation
commissions established under conventions to which the
United Kingdom was a party. His Government had also
taken the lead in promoting a new and more compre-
hensive international conservation convention, along the
lines suggested in the report of the Rome Conference
of 1955,1 covering the Atlantic areas and designed to
authorize the use of a wide range of conservation
measures applicable to every species of fish.
2. The Committee's debate would be heavily influ-
enced by two factors. First, more food, including fish,
had to be found for the world's population which was
steadily increasing. Secondly, the resources of the sea
were being exploited more efficiently and intensively
owing to the improvement of fishing techniques and
introduction of scientific devices. There was, however,
a limit to the extent to which the living resources of the
sea could be exploited ; the Committee should look
ahead and make timely provision for conservation meas-
ures. The freedom of fishing on the high seas should
therefore be accompanied by a corresponding duty, ac-
cepted by States, to take necessary conservation meas-
ures. Although that duty was implicit in the draft
articles it should be explicitly recognized and accepted,
and article 49 so amended that the right to fish and
the duty to conserve were given equal weight.
3. The definition of conservation contained in article
50 was sound and reflected the opinion of the Rome
Conference of 1955.
4. The subsequent articles on conservation should spe-
cifically require States to conclude agreements on con-
servation programmes within the framework of prop-
erly constituted international conservation conventions
covering defined areas of the seas or specific marine re-
sources on condition that the conventions were open to
accession by all States concerned with the area or with
the resource in question. Several such conventions were
already in existence and their effectiveness had been
recognized in the report of the Rome Conference. Such
conventions provided means of centralizing scientific re-
sources and speeding up conservation work and gave
better results than ad hoc negotiations between indivi-
dual States.
5. Two very important questions arose in connexion
with the draft articles. The first was whether some States
had a special interest in the elaboration and appli-
cation of conservation measures, whereas others had no
such interest. The second was whether any kind of
superior appellate body should be set up if agreement
could not be reached and, if so, what should be its
nature and powers. So far as the first question was con-
cerned, he said that all countries, except land-locked
countries, were in fact coastal States and had a special
interest in the fish close to their shores; that was
merely a recognition of a fact. Yet it did not really
follow that every coastal State should have exclusive
fishing rights in the areas adjacent to its territorial sea.
6. The reasons for his view were based partly on geo-
graphy and partly on the habits of fish. He noted that,
of the seventy-four coastal States participating in the
Conference, about fifty shared common seas. The life

1 Report of the International Technical Conference on the
Conservation of the Living Resources of the Sea (United
Nations publication, Sales No.: 1955.II.B.2).



Seventh meeting — 13 March 1958 11

cycle of the herring of the North Sea — a good example
of a common sea — took the fish through the coastal
waters of eight States which all fished the herring at
different stages of its life cycle. Which of those States
would have the special interest? If all were regarded as
having a special interest and were to apply conserva-
tion measures on a unilateral basis, the situation would
indeed be chaotic. These observations applied not only
to pelagic fish such as the herring, but also to cod, tuna,
whales and other species. Exclusive fishery zones
marked out on maps would not bring a stock of fish
under the effective control of a particular State; the
wider zone within which conservation could prove
effective required the agreement of all the States
concerned.

7. Agreements should therefore be concluded through
conservation commissions or, in the absence of such
commissions, by direct negotiations between States.
Article 55 as drafted, with its emphasis on unilateral
action in a specific high seas area, would not meet such
situations or serve as a general formula but would
rather tend to produce confusion and even anarchy in
the fisheries. The article should be replaced by a pro-
vision to the effect that any coastal State which was
unable to obtain agreement to a satisfactory conserva-
tion regime should be entitled to make its proposals,
accompanied by supporting evidence, to some outside
and impartial expert body which would be empowered
to approve those proposals, if necessary modify them,
and give them effect as an interim regime if the evi-
dence seemed sufficient on a prima facie review to
justify their adoption. That interim regime should safe-
guard and protect the interests of the coastal State and
of other States pending an examination of all relevant
facts concerning the fishery and the stock with a view
to a final decision at some later time by the expert body
in question.

8. All disputes relating to conservation measures should
be referred to an independent expert body whose de-
cisions would be binding upon all the States concerned,
including newcomers. The cause of conservation would
certainly be advanced if the parties to any dispute were
prepared to accept the impartial verdict of the body of
experts. However, if that procedure was not acceptable,
the United Kingdom would be equally prepared to ac-
cept an arrangement (except where a State was seek-
ing to exercise an initiative against others or where a
newcomer to a fishery was required to conform to exist-
ing conservation measures) whereby the parties could,
as an alternative, undertake to seek the opinion of an
outside commission of referees and then decide in the
international conservation body whether to accept and
implement that opinion. That arrangement would be
less desirable than the first because it could result in
the non-application of necessary conservation measures.

9. His delegation would, in principle, support draft
articles 57, 58 and 59 and felt that the proposed system
was essential to the effective application of the fishery
articles as a whole. He expressed certain doubts about
the title " arbitral commission " and pointed out that
the purpose of that body would be to weigh biological
and technical factors and make recommendations
rather than arbitrate in the customary sense of the term.
It might also be well to establish a standing panel of

experts from all parts of the world from among whom
commissions of referees might be selected to settle spe-
cific disputes.
10. He observed that when the intensity of fishing
reached a certain point in a given area, fishing might
have to be controlled. He considered that when that
point was reached in the case of any particular stock
of fish, the scheme of regulation should recognize the
special position of the small-boat communities of the
coastal State or States which fished very small quan-
tities of the stock. That provision was sometimes made
under existing conservation conventions and could help
to solve the economic problems of less developed fishing
communities. Alternatively, deep-sea fleets might abstain
from operating in specific off-shore areas which would
thereby be reserved for the small-boat communities of
the neighbouring State.
11. In conclusion he said that the coastal State's inte-
rest was twofold. First, it must ensure that fishing on
the high seas off its shores was wisely conducted in ac-
cordance with proper conservation measures so that
the maximum benefit could be derived from the re-
sources of the sea. Secondly, it must secure a fair share
of the catch if fishing had to be controlled quantita-
tively.
12. The Indian representative in the First Committee
had recently stated that the concept of the seas as the
common property of all nations to be appropriated to
the use of mankind for the benefit of all should be re-
conciled with the particular needs of coastal States. That
was a sound statement of the issues involved, and the
United Kingdom delegation felt that the resources of
the high seas could be most rationally used in the in-
terests of all through the establishment of a proper con-
servation regime and not by dividing the sea into
exclusive fishing domains.

13. Mr. DE LA PRADELLE (Monaco) emphasized
his country's keen interest in matters relating to the sea.
Prince Rainier III, for example, was President of the
International Commission for the Scientific Explora-
tion of the Mediterranean, and Prince Albert had
founded the Oceanographic Institute of Paris in 1906.
14. It was no longer true to say that the living resources
of the seas were inexhaustible, for some species had
already become extinct, and he recalled that in view of
the steady growth of the world's population, experts of
the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United
Nations had called for measures to increase the pro-
ductivity of the living resources of the high seas. Con-
servation was not enough, however ; what was needed
was an increase in the productivity of the resources of
the sea and for that purpose an international system
regulating fishing should be established.
15. He announced that his country intended to set aside
the Monegasque continental shelf as a fish reserve where
no fishing would be allowed and where certain Mediter-
ranean species of fish threatened with extinction would
be reared. In that way, by practising the principle of
abstention, Monaco would contribute to the establish-
ment of international fishing regulations.

16. Mr. THURMER (Netherlands) was in general
agreement with the substance of articles 49 to 60 of the
International Law Commission's draft, which were aimed



12 Summary records

at giving effect to the principle of conservation and
rational exploitation of stocks of fish. Not only the
draft, but also the International Technical Conference
on the Conservation of the Living Resources of the Sea
held in Rome in 1955, had underlined the immense im-
portance of that principle.
17. He believed that article 49 implied the right, not
only for the nationals of contracting States, but also for
the contracting States themselves, to fish on the high
seas. He agreed with the International Law Commis-
sion's opinion that the term " nationals " in articles 49,
51, 52, 53, 54 and 56 referred to fishing boats having
the nationality of the State concerned, irrespective of
the nationality of the crews. That interpretation of the
word " nationals " should, however, be incorporated in
the text of the convention itself.
18. With regard to article 55, he thought that coastal
States contemplating the adoption of the measures re-
ferred to in the article should be obliged to satisfy a
competent international body that the requirements
stipulated in paragraph 2, sub-paragraphs (a) and (b),
were fulfilled. But that article should not be construed
as authorizing coastal States to abrogate unilaterally
existing regulations adopted in accordance with arti-
cles 51 and 52 (regarding measures of conservation of
the living resources of the high seas). Such regulations
should be capable of being suspended only by an ar-
bitral commission.
19. His delegation doubted whether article 60 (fish-
eries conducted by means of equipment embedded in
the floor of the sea), were fully justified, and reserved
the right to comment on it at a later stage. If the article
were adopted, it would be necessary to provide for the
settlement of disputes by arbitration, in conformity
with the procedure laid down in articles 57 to 59.
Moreover, the arbitration clause itself (article 57)
should be redrafted in terms which would ensure its
regular application.
20. With the principle of the freedom of the high seas
in mind, his Government was convinced that it was in
the interest of States engaged in fishing that the mar-
ginal belt of territorial waters should remain as nar-
row as possible. His delegation was therefore in favour
of the maintenance of the three-mile zone of territorial
sea. That breadth would, in his delegation's opinion,
be fully reconcilable with the special interest of the
coastal State in the fisheries in the zone contiguous to
the territorial sea, and would, at the same time, safe-
guard the interests of all States engaged in fishing.
21. He pointed out that the general principles laid down
by the International Law Commission did not exclude
the possibility of adequate regulations being arrived at
by means of regional conventions.
22. States whose nationals were engaged in fishing, or
would be so in the future, had a common interest in
seeing the stocks of fish in the sea exploited in the most
effective way possible. Their object should therefore be
co-operation for the purpose of conserving and develop-
ing those stocks. Nevertheless, the necessary regulations
to that end should not be of a discriminatory nature.

23. Mr. HULT (Sweden) said that article 27 of the
International Law Commission's draft, concerning the
freedom of the high seas, was the basis of all the dis-

cussions in the Third Committee. The only exceptions
to that principle, in so far as it affected fishing, referred
to sedentary fisheries (article 68) and fisheries conduct-
ed by means of equipment embedded in the floor of the
sea (article 60). The Swedish delegation wholeheartedly
supported the principle of the freedom of fishing on the
high seas. It followed from that principle that the pro-
visions in the articles on the conservation of the living
resources of the sea were of the utmost importance, and
the Swedish delegation regarded such measures of con-
servation as essential. Accordingly, it supported the
general principles laid down in articles 49 to 53, subject
to certain drafting changes.
24. The common basis for discussions of the problems
connected with fishing was the fact that the stock of
fish in the sea was a natural resource common to all.
Consequently, the maintenance of the productivity of a
given stock of fish was of equal interest to all States
fishing it, and coastal States did not necessarily have a
greater interest in maintaining the stock than did other
nations. Conceivably, a coastal State might not utilize
the living resources of the sea adjacent to its coast,
while a non-coastal State fishing the stock of a par-
ticular area had a vital interest in maintaining or
increasing the yield from that area.
25. To recognize a special right vested in the coastal
State over that part of the high seas which was adja-
cent to its coast would be to give that State preferential
treatment at the expense of other States. There were
no grounds for granting coastal States a special position,
and for that reason his delegation strongly opposed ar-
ticles 54 and 55, which, by providing that coastal States
might adopt unilateral measures for the regulation of
fishing in any area of the high seas adjacent to their
territorial sea, granted such States rights which they
had not previously possessed under international law.
26. He pointed out that the provisions of articles 51 to
53, regarding conservation measures, applied to areas
of the high seas up to the limits of the territorial sea,
which meant that such areas would be subject to two
sets of rules : those set forth in articles 51 to 53, and
those contained in article 55. That would inevitably
create difficulties, particularly since there was no pro-
vision limiting the area in which coastal States were
competent to take measures in pursuance of article 55.
He felt that articles 51 to 53 were fully adequate in
themselves.
27. He drew attention to the problems that might arise
if different coastal States ordered unilateral measures of
conservation which were incompatible with each other
but which would all be valid at least pending the estab-
lishment of an arbitral commission and the giving of
its award.
28. Article 56 would, if slightly modified, provide
coastal States with a sufficient guarantee that the living
resources of an adjacent area would be conserved, and
so render article 54 superfluous.
29. In view of these considerations, he was in favour
of deleting articles 54 and 55 from the draft.
30. He observed that the term " coastal State " was not
without ambiguities. Moreover, paragraph 3 of the
commentary on article 54 admitted the possibility of
coastal States claiming special interests in areas far
removed from their shores. In view of that and other



Eighth meeting — 14 March 1958 13

considerations, his delegation was unwilling to agree to
provisions granting coastal States any special rights
over the regulating of fishing on the high seas, although
it was prepared to consider special claims that might
be put forward on behalf of States whose economic
conditions were such that fishing was their principal,
or even their only, source of income.
31. He stressed, lastly, that his delegation would be un-
able to accept any system of conservation of the living
resources of the high seas unless it were accompanied
by rules providing for compulsory arbitration.

32. Mr. MICHIELSEN (Belgium) said that his dele-
gation could not agree with the view put forward by
some representatives that the trends which had become
noticeable in some States with regard to the law of the
sea represented progress. On the contrary, such trends
were an obstacle to the final goal, which was that the
riches at the disposal of humanity should be exploited
by all in complete liberty and on a basis of equality.
Belgium, which entirely supported the principle of the
freedom of the high seas, rejected any provisions con-
flicting with that principle.
33. Wherever there was a possibility that the living
resources of the sea might be endangered by over-
exploitation, the nations concerned should take measures
of conservation, which should be inspired by a sincere
desire to preserve the common patrimony. The interests
of the inhabitants of coastal States with seas abundant in
living resources should have equal weight with those of
States which were without rich areas of adjacent sea
but which had always taken part in fishing the high seas.
34. Some representatives had said that the recognition
of special rights vested in the coastal State would es-
pecially benefit these States whose fishing was under-
developed. It would, they argued, enable the coastal
State to defend itself against competition from techni-
cally better-equipped fleets from other countries, which
came to fish in the areas adjacent to its territorial sea.
In his view, that argument was based exclusively on
economic and technical considerations, and could not
be admitted either as a basis for international law or
as a justification for any attempt to limit the funda-
mental principle of the freedom of the seas. He tended
all the more to that view because he felt it could be
hoped that the fishing fleets of those countries would
quite soon have been able to catch up and come into
line with the most highly organized industries.
35. He regretted to note that the nations represented in
the Committee had tended to become divided into two
blocks : coastal States bordering on rich fishing-grounds,
and the rest. He gave an example of the dangers which
might result from such a division. Belgium's coastline
was very short. Consequently, Belgian fishermen had
gone fishing, in complete liberty and in company with
the fishermen of other nations, along the coasts of Eng-
land, the Netherlands, Scotland, Germany, Denmark
and Iceland. If the views of certain countries were to
prevail and find acceptance in international law, there
was no doubt that Belgian fishermen would soon dis-
appear from the seas and Belgium itself would become
almost entirely dependent for its supplies of marine
products on countries in a more advantageous geogra-
phical position.
36. That contingency was unlikely to materialize, in

view of the historic rights acquired by Belgian fishing in
the North-East Atlantic. However, the example quoted
gave an indication of the possible dangers to which the
new trends might lead.
37. Only through sincere collaboration between States
would it be possible to protect the living resources of
the sea, and Belgium regarded such collaboration as the
wise and moderating factor on which the principle of
freedom should be based.
38. Belgium could not support provisions which might
lead to encroachment on the high seas, whether by an
extension of the breadth of the territorial sea, by the
drawing of excessive baselines or by the granting of
sovereignty over the living wealth of the continental
shelf. In addition, it had important reservations to make
with regard to the principle of abstention and to arti-
cles 51 and 55. Article 58 should be broadened, and
should include the interests of the community among
the criteria to be applied by the arbitral commission.

The meeting rose at 4.40 p.m.

EIGHTH MEETING

Friday, 14 March 1958, at 3.10 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. GRAU (SWITZERLAND), MR. CUS-
MAI (ITALY), MR. RUIVO (PORTUGAL), MR. KRISPIS
(GREECE), MR. PFEIFFER (FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF
GERMANY), MARQUIS DE MIRAFLORES (SPAIN) AND
MR. ALLOY (FRANCE)

1. Mr. GRAU (Switzerland) said that although Swit-
zerland had no immediate practical connexion with the
subject of the Committee's discussions, it would follow
them with great interest in view of the international
character of the proceedings. He felt certain that the
Committee would be successful in its work.

2. Mr. CUSMAI (Italy) said that as a result of scien-
tific research it had become clear that measures were
required for the conservation of the living resources of
the sea. Several States had already drawn up precise
regulations on fishing, and there were many interna-
tional agreements whose object was to protect fishing
in certain areas and for certain species of fish. Italy
had set up a commission of administrative officers,
biologists and technicians, which had recently begun
the study of new regulations for fishing.
3. Whether or not the committee accepted the articles
drawn up by the International Law Commission, all
members were agreed on the need for international
regulations on fishing in order to avoid a repetition of
the disagreements which had arisen as a result of the
different criteria adopted by countries with regard to
such matters as the delimitation of the territorial sea,
contiguous zones, the continental shelf and breeding-



14 Summary records

grounds where fishing was prohibited to fishermen from
foreign States.
4. While it was true that many of the International
Law Commission's draft articles which referred to
fishing fell within the purview of other committees, he
did not agree with the proposal for joint meetings, for
which the time was too short. It would be better that
the committee should study all the draft articles relative
to fishing and communicate its views on them to the
other committees concerned. Article 15, for example,
laid down the right of innocent passage through the
territorial sea for all ships, and paragraph 1 of the
commentary explained that the term " ships " included
fishing boats. But article 18 stated that foreign ships
exercising the right of passage should comply with the
laws and regulations enacted by the coastal State.
Under the customs laws of some countries, fish was
regarded as contraband if unaccompanied by the
necessary documents. But was there any fishing-boat to
which such documents could be supplied unless it was
known whether it was in fact going to fish, what spe-
cies of fish it was likely to catch and in what quantity ?
It would therefore be necessary, in order to avoid
misunderstandings and incidents, to lay down clearly
that fishing boats had the right of innocent passage,
subject, naturally, to guarantees against abuse.
5. If fishing-boats were to be included in the category
of commercial government ships, for which immunity
was provided in article 33, he felt that the provisions
of that article clashed with those of articles 51 to 56,
which gave coastal and non-coastal States special
powers in the high seas, and with those of several in-
ternational agreements in force. He felt, in general,
that the Committee should, in its study of the articles
relating to fishing, attempt to decide on criteria which
would bring those articles into line with the provisions
of international conventions on fishing already in
existence.
6. Articles 51 and 54 were liable to give rise to diver-
gent interpretations. Some clarification was therefore
needed, and a paragraph should be added to article 51,
or a new article should be inserted, stating that a State
which adopted measures to regulate and control fishing
in an area of the high seas should inform other coun-
tries of such measures before they came into farce.
7. The limitation contained in paragraph 1 of the
commentary to article 52 on a State's right to enter
into negotiations for the conservation of the living
resources in a given area of the high seas should be in-
serted in the text of the article itself and the word
"regularly" should be better defined. The expression
" a reasonable period of time " used in article 52 and
subsequent articles should also be made more explicit.
The phrase "the high seas adjacent to its territorial
sea" in article 54 was also ambiguous, and might be
interpreted variously, according to whether a State had
a vast expanse of ocean or a small internal sea lying off
its coasts. If attention were not paid to such geogra-
phical differences, a situation might be reached in which
the seas were divided by a median line, with the coun-
tries on one side of it being unable to fish in the other
half and vice versa. That would be incompatible with the
freedom of fishing in the high seas laid down in ar-
ticle 27.

8. Article 55 needed the greatest consideration, on
account of the extensive rights which it gave to coastal
States. The first two of the three conditions which
coastal States must satisfy if its measures were to be
valid as regards other States did not in fact justify such
measures, since the idea of a scientifically proved
"urgent need" for measures of conservation did not
accord with the slow development of natural pheno-
mena which was the scientific reality. Hence, coastal
States would normally have time to enter into nego-
tiations with the other countries concerned and to have
recourse to arbitration before any " urgent need " arose.
His delegation felt that in any case article 55 was not
indispensable, since the provisions of articles 51, 52,
53 and 54 were more than sufficient to guarantee the
protection of the living resources in the high seas ad-
jacent to the territorial sea of any State.
9. With regard to article 57, he pointed out that the
arbitral commission would become a judicial body
whose decisions would have universal validity. That
went beyond the traditional limits of arbitration. In
addition, as had been stressed at the International
Technical Conference on the Conservation of the Living
Resources of the Sea held in Rome in 1955, it was
often necessary to conduct protracted research before
being able to decide whether conservation measures
were necessary or not. It would thus be extremely dif-
ficult for the arbitral commission to render its decision
within the five months laid down in paragraph 5 of
article 57. That article would therefore require amend-
ment. His delegation reserved the right to return to
articles 58, 59 and 60, as well as to those articles on
which he had commented in a general way.

10. Mr. RUIVO (Portugal) said that the law of the
sea, like every other branch of law, should develop in
the light of the great scientific and technical progress
that had occurred, especially with regard to the ex-
ploration and exploitation of the living resources of the
sea.
11. The growth of populations, the need to raise
standards of living and the process of industrial ex-
pansion had led governments to intensify the explo-
ration of those resources. An excessive increase in
fishing might lead to the exhaustion of fish stocks,
while arbitrary or inadequate measures of conservation
might mean that fisheries were under-developed. Both
possibilities could lead to conflicts between nations.
12. The only effective way of solving such problems
was to draw up a body of legal provisions based on
scientific and technical data. For that reason the Por-
tuguese Government placed a high value on the draft
articles prepared by the International Law Commission.
The articles included several innovations — for
example, the references to the special interests of coastal
States and the rights relating to the resources of the
continental shelf—but they nevertheless upheld the
fundamental principle of the freedom of the seas. In-
transigent and extremist positions, which called for an
almost complete revision of the law of the sea and
which sought to set up virtual monopolies in fishing
areas, would have to be abandoned if progress were
to be made.
13. He stressed the importance of fishing for Portugal's
national economy and the feeding of its population.



Eighth meeting — 14 March 1958 15

That was why his Government believed that the in-
terests of coastal States should be taken into con-
sideration, although not in such a way as to limit the
exploitation of the living resources of the seas by all
nations. There was the danger that the granting of
priority rights might lead to the under-development of
those resources.
14. His delegation had followed with great interest
the attempts to define the legal relationship between
the continental shelf, with its natural resources, and
the coastal State. Scientific arguments, however, led
to different conclusions with regard to the living re-
sources of the sea. A fishery could not be artificially
separated from the ecological system which surrounded
it. A localized fishery in an area of the high seas or
on a continental shelf was the last stage in a long
chain of events which sometimes originated hundreds
of kilometres away. For such reasons, measures of
conservation should be based on scientific and tech-
nical factors, of which the definition and geographical
delimitation of fish stocks was the most important. A
purely administrative view might lead to positive re-
sults, but it could not often do anything to guarantee
"the optimum sustainable yield" (article 50). He
would therefore like to see more clearly defined the
areas of the high seas which might be held to have a
special interest for coastal States.
15. He felt that article 56, which enabled States, even
if their nationals were not engaged in fishing in an area
of the high seas not adjacent to their coasts, to request
other States to take the necessary measures of conser-
vation in that area, might conflict with the principle of
the freedom of the seas. It could only be accepted if it
referred to fisheries belonging to the same ecological
system or to stocks which had the same bio-ecological
characteristics, or if such fisheries were engaged in
catching the same stock even though they were geo-
graphically separated. Although the definition and
delimitation of stocks was clearly a difficult task, it
would have great advantages for the framing of really
valid measures of conservation.
16. In that connexion, the Portuguese Government at-
tached great importance to the regional fisheries con-
ventions and the work of their corresponding permanent
commissions. The latter could co-ordinate research
programmes, lay down the necessary conservation
measures for a fishery and ensure that such measures
were being carried out. Any disputes between States
bound by a fishing convention should first be brought
before the permanent commission concerned. Recourse
to the kind of arbitral commission provided for in the
International Law Commission's draft should be the
last stage, when all other means of settlement had been
exhausted.
17. He felt that the composition, rules of procedure
and periods for rendering decisions of the arbitral com-
missions should be more closely defined, if the articles
on the conservation of living resources which were of a
compulsory nature were to be accepted with any con-
fidence.

18. Mr. KRISPIS (Greece) said that it was of vital
concern to the international community to find ways
and means of making the optimum use of the living
resources of the high seas, particularly as some species

were in grave danger of extinction owing to modern
intensive fishing techniques. His country's interest in
the establishment of suitable fishing regulations was
obvious in view of its geographical situation and the
importance of fish in the national diet.
19. Turning to the Commission's draft, he said that
the use of the word "right" in article 49 was com-
mendable, for — unlike the word "freedom" in sub-
paragraph (2) of article 27 — it implied a power
recognized by law. The word " nationals " in article 49
was, however, open to a variety of interpretations and
should be clearly explained.
20. Articles 50 to 59, which represented revolutionary
progress in international law, had a common heading
but dealt with two separate topics — namely, the con-
servation and the maintenance of the productivity of
the living resources of the high seas. Conservation was
defined in article 50 and dealt with in articles 51, 52,
53 and 56. Maintenance of productivity, which was
dealt with in articles 54 and 55, had not been defined,
however, and that could well lead to misunderstandings.
Redrafting was therefore indicated so that the con-
cepts of conservation and the maintenance of produc-
tivity could be placed on the same footing and regulated
by the same provisions.
21. He pointed out that, for purposes of conservation
and the maintenance of productivity, four broad cate-
gories of cases had been envisaged in the Commission's
draft. The first was covered by paragraph 1 of ar-
ticle 56 which was somewhat unrealistic, and he felt
that the interest to which it referred could not really
be described as special. It was difficult to see, for
example, how Greece could have a special interest in
the enactment of regulations for the protection of pink
salmon in the seas near Alaska simply because the
Greek people happened to like pink salmon. Para-
graph 2 of article 56, moreover, was badly drafted,
since it referred to an agreement but failed to specify
the parties to that agreement. His delegation therefore
proposed the deletion of article 56.
22. The second category was dealt with in article 51,
the provisions of which were in conformity with inter-
national law. When the nationals of other States arrived
to fish in the same area of the high seas, article 52 be-
came applicable.
23. The third category was covered by article 52, which
was acceptable. His delegation also concurred in the
idea that conservation measures should be imposed on
the States concerned should they fail to reach agree-
ment.
24. With respect to the fourth category, his delegation
felt that a State whose nationals were not engaged in
fishing in a specific area of the high seas adjacent to
its territorial sea could be treated as if it had fishing
interests in that area. The fourth category could, there-
fore, be assimilated to the third.
25. His delegation accordingly accepted, in principle,
articles 50, 51, 52 and 53 and paragraph 2 of ar-
ticle 54.
26. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 of ar-
ticle 54, however, were unwarranted and should be
deleted. It was enough that the coastal State's geogra-
phical situation for purposes of fishing in the waters
adjacent to its territorial sea should be more favourable



16 Summary records

than that of other States. To recognize that it had a
special interest might tend to create a kind of coastal
high seas, an unacceptable notion since it might in
some circumstances jeopardize the freedom of the high
seas. A suggestion along those lines had moreover been
rejected by the Rome Conference of 1955.
27. Article 55 should also be deleted. It was difficult
to understand why a coastal State should be allowed
to adopt unilateral measures in such conditions. Any
State anxious to adopt such measures would find it an
easy matter to bring about the breakdown of nego-
tiations. It was also unclear why the coastal State
should be in such a hurry to adopt unilateral measures
instead of resorting as quickly as possible to arbi-
tration. To provide for cases of that kind, the arbitral
commission could, in urgent cases, be authorized to
render provisional decisions prescribing interim con-
servation measures. For that reason, the most suitable
machinery to discharge the arbitration tasks described
in article 57 would be a permanent international body
with certain limited legislative powers, enabling it to
prescribe fishing seasons, amounts of catches, etc.,
broader administrative powers, and perhaps some judi-
cial powers.
28. His delegation had originally intended to propose
the establishment of a body of that kind but found
support for the idea lacking. It still hoped that pro-
posals along those lines would be made and accepted;
but if not, it would support the idea of compulsory
arbitration as a minimum condition for accepting regu-
lations on the conservation of the living resources of
the high seas. He noted with regret that it had been
suggested in certain quarters that article 57 should be
deleted, and pointed out that to promulgate conser-
vation regulations without providing for arbitration
machinery would inevitably restrict the freedom of the
high seas in one of its most important aspects —
namely, fishing. That situation would undoubtedly lead
to disputes and conflicts.
29. He noted that whereas the articles on the con-
tinental shelf sought to fill a gap in international law,
the fisheries articles were designed merely to adapt
existing international law to new needs and situations.
The changes proposed did not in principle infringe upon
the freedom of the high seas. Indeed, they were de-
signed to protect that freedom from fishing claims
which tended to destroy certain aspects of that free-
dom under the guise of progress.
30. In conclusion, the regulation of fisheries in the
high seas should be based on two implicit conditions:
first, that no regulation should be so construed as to
exclude newcomers from fishing in any area of the
high seas, and, secondly, that any regulations agreed
must be interpreted and applied on a bona fide basis.

3*1. Mr. PFEIFFER (Federal Republic of Germany)
congratulated the International Law Commission on
selecting, as the basis for its draft, the freedom of the
high seas which, as was explicitly recognized in ar-
ticle 27, implied freedom of fishing.
32. The task of conserving the living resources of the
high seas was of vital consequence to the world's
population but his delegation hoped that the conser-
vation measures proposed would not hamper the free-
dom of fishing more than was absolutely necessary.

33. The State referred to in article 51 was certainly
responsible to some extent for the conservation of the
living resources of the high seas and should therefore
be required to issue appropriate regulations for its
nationals in so far as such regulations were warranted.
Yet it would be unjustified to impose such regulations,
which, being unilateral, might well have been prompted
by other than biological considerations, on the nationals
of other States who arrived to fish in that area at a
later date.
34. The same objection could be raised to the pro-
visions of article 52. If the States concerned had similar
economic, social or political interests they might well
draw up fishing regulations which were not entirely
based on biological considerations. Furthermore, it was
not inconceivable that fishing conventions might be
based on a synthesis of such interests, including those
of the fisherman and the consumer, and therefore it
would be unwarranted if not unjust to impose then-
provisions, even temporarily, on the nationals of other
States who subsequently engaged in fishing in the area
concerned.
35. His delegation felt that article 54 went too far and
to all intents and purposes established a contiguous
fishing zone. The right referred to in paragraph 2 of
article 54 should be granted to the coastal State only
if its nationals were actually engaged in fishing the same
stocks in the territorial sea, the adjacent area of the
high seas or in both areas.
36. Paragraph 1 of article 55, which authorized the
coastal State to adopt unilateral measures of conser-
vation, would restrict the freedom of the high seas.
37. Furthermore, the term "special interest" in the
context of article 56 was vague. A special interest of
that kind could be recognized only in cases where the
nationals of a State fished, in their territorial waters
or in the high seas, the same stocks as were fished by
the nationals of other States in other areas of the high
seas. His delegation would therefore prefer a more
specific term in order to avoid possible misunder-
standings.
38. His delegation would submit a text to replace
articles 51 to 56 in order to bring into harmony the
concepts of the need for conserving, in the interests
of the international community, the living resources of
the high seas, the various interests of States engaged
in fishing and the principle of the freedom of the high
seas.
39. With regard to the settlement of any disputes that
arose, his delegation accepted in principle the idea of
an arbitral commission.

40. Marquis DE MIRAFLORES (Spain) stressed that,
as an important fishing nation, with a large part of its
national income derived from the fishing industry and
a large fishing population, Spain had a particular in-
terest in the success of the Third Committee's work.
41. Articles 49 to 60 constituted an attempt to draw
up regulations governing the enjoyment of the classical
and fundamental principle of the freedom of fishing in
the high seas. That principle should not endanger the
conservation and exploitation of the living resources of
the sea at the expense of millions of human beings. On
that point, the States represented in the Committee



Ninth meeting — 17 March 1958 17

seemed to be in agreement and to favour the intro-
duction of a series of regulations which would guarantee
the conservation of resources.
42. The International Law Commission's draft was
founded on two basic principles — first, the idea of
permanent collaboration between the States concerned,
and, secondly, that of compulsory arbitration. The idea
of permanent co-operation constituted the only ground
for the partial renunciation by States of the existing
principle of freedom of fishing on the high seas. In
order that such collaboration might not be endangered
by disputes, it seemed advisable, not only to lay down
regulations governing such disputes, but also to pro-
vide for an international body to promote co-operation.
It was not a question of attempting to revive the idea
of an international legislative body, which had already
been discarded by the International Law Commission,
but to draw attention to the need for filling a gap which
might appear in practice if no provision were made
for an international body to further co-operation. Such
co-operation could not be left to ordinary direct nego-
tiations between States. It was necessary to place it on
an institutional basis. If that were not done, any regu-
lations agreed might lose their force, or there would
be an excessive recourse to arbitration, which would
undoubtedly diminish the spirit of co-operation be-
tween States. Thus, without discarding the idea of
compulsory arbitration for settling the more important
disputes, it was worth considering setting up an inter-
national body or commission which would be more
easily accessible and in a better position to take deci-
sions than an international tribunal. Some part of the
varied international organizations already in existence
might be used for that purpose.
43. Regional agreements might help to reduce fishing
disputes and to ensure the fulfilment of regulations.
Such regional agreements should not be interpreted in
a purely geographical sense when it came to the ques-
tion of fishing, since that might lead to artificial divi-
sions of species.
44. The concept of the adjacent high seas (article 54)
should be more clearly defined on the basis of a fixed
depth beyond which fishing was not economically
viable.
45. The Spanish delegation accepted the principle that
coastal States should be empowered to take unilateral
measures of conservation, but felt that the exercise of
that right should be governed by clearly defined rules,
since it was a new right and was not granted by the
international community for the coastal State's ex-
clusive benefit, but in the interests of all. It therefore
should not be invoked to justify positions of dominion
or in such a way as to damage other States' interests.
46. Coastal States interested in adopting conservation
measures on the high seas adjacent to their territorial
sea should continue to seek bilateral or multilateral
agreements. If such agreements proved impossible, that
in itself showed that there were vital interests at stake,
and those should not form the subject of unilateral
measures. In default of agreement, recourse should be
had to an international body. That would be more
equitable and practical than having recourse to the
idea of priority rights.
47. The Spanish delegation agreed with the Interna-

tional Law Commission's opinion that the granting to
States of rights on the high seas, which went beyond
the limits of international law currently in force, should
be balanced by a body of guarantees that would safe-
guard the legitimate interests of the other States in-
terested in the exploitation of the riches of the sea.
48. His delegation reserved the right to introduce
various concrete amendments to the articles submitted
to the Committee.

49. Mr. ALLOY (France) emphasized the importance
of the fishing industry to his country, which was keenly
interested in the rational conservation of the living
resources of the high seas and co-operated in a num-
ber of international fishery conventions. He congra-
tulated the International Law Commission on its draft,
which was based on a desire to ensure freedom of
fishing and equality for all States. Some of its articles,
however, required amendment. His delegation would
be unable to accept article 55, since it authorized the
coastal State to take unilateral measures of conservation.
If conservation measures seemed necessary in any area,
all the States concerned should, on a basis of equality,
discuss their advisability and be given a reasonable
time to reach agreement. If no agreement was reached,
the matter should then be referred to arbitration and
the coastal State should not issue any regulations
pending the outcome.
50. The Committee's discussions on the freedom of
fishing on the high seas would be influenced to a large
extent by the decisions reached in other committees on
the breadth of the territorial sea and on the exploitation
of natural resources of the continental shelf.

The meeting rose at 4.50 p.m.

NINTH MEETING

Monday, 17 March 1958, at 1.10 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. CORREA (ECUADOR), MR. ALVA-
REZ (URUGUAY), MR. HAN (REPUBLIC OF KOREA),
MR. CIEGLEWICZ (POLAND), MR. POPOVIC (YUGO-
SLAVIA), MR. OZERE (CANADA) AND MR. DE FONSEKA
(CEYLON)

1. Mr. CORREA (Ecuador) said that whereas the In-
ternational Law Commission was concerned with the
codification and progressive development of interna-
tional law, the Conference, being composed of pleni-
potentiaries, had much wider powers ; indeed, it had
virtual legislative functions which it should not hesitate
to use. The law was not something static; it should
evolve pari passu with the evolution of international
life in general.
2. Ecuador's economy depended in no small measure
on the living resources of the sea adjacent to its coast;



18 Summary records

hence his country had a special interest in the matters
referred to the Committee. As the delegations of the
Latin American countries bordering on the Pacific had
said repeatedly, for a number of reasons the fishing
problems of those countries constituted a special case.
First, owing to the influence of the Humboldt Current
along the coasts of Chile, Peru and Ecuador, the ad-
jacent seas abounded in a wide variety of fish; the
inter-action of the current and the climate had, more-
over, created a geographic-biological unity between
the mainland and the sea. Secondly, the erosion of the
Andes had contributed to the wealth of the living re-
sources of the adjacent seas. Thirdly, certain stretches
of the South Pacific coast had no continental shelf in
the strict sense of the word, since the seabed dropped
away sharply; the coastal States of the area would
therefore benefit to a limited extent only from the
recognition of their sovereignty over the resources and
waters of the continental shelf. Fourthly, the economic
future of the countries in question depended to a great
extent on the Pacific fisheries. Fifthly, stocks of fish
in the area had been exploited intensively by large,
foreign-owned fishing fleets using modern equipment
not available to the under-developed coastal States.
Lastly, the destruction or depletion of such stocks
would have far-reaching economic consequences for
the countries of the region.

3. It was with the object of safeguarding the resources
of the maritime areas off their coasts that Chile,
Ecuador and Peru had, by the Declaration of 1952,
laid down a common policy for the conservation, de-
velopment and rational exploitation of those resources
and set up joint machinery for the regulation of fishing
in the areas in question. That declaration was not an
isolated case; other countries had enacted regulations
concerning the use or conservation of the living re-
sources of the high seas.

4. His delegation would therefore seek international
recognition of a special, preferential and unconditional
right, vested in the coastal State, by reason of its geo-
graphical position, to utilize the living resources in an
area of sea adjacent to its territorial sea and to issue,
unilaterally, regulations governing the conservation,
control and exploitation of those resources and ap-
plicable to the nationals of any other States who came
to fish in that area. The recognition of that right was a
legitimate limitation of the freedom of the high seas
which had, in any event, ceased to be an absolute
freedom. Unlimited freedom under present conditions
of economic inequality would render the right of all
nations to the wealth of the sea illusory and convert the
high seas into the exclusive province of large fishing
interests. Besides, the exercise of sovereign rights by
the coastal State over the resources of the continental
shelf had produced a trend that would make the
recognition of the coastal State's rights over the fisheries
of the contiguous zone inevitable, because the same
considerations appeared to be applicable to both cases.

5. The International Law Commission had been forced
to recognize, in the provisions relating to conservation,
the special status of the coastal State, but had done so
somewhat cautiously. That caution was not, however,
evident in its statement of the coastal State's sovereign
rights over the continental shelf; and yet, the "geo-

graphical phenomenon" referred to in paragraph 8
of the commentary on article 68 and the other cir-
cumstances of the Latin American States on the Pacific
coast should provide sufficient grounds for the recog-
nition of their special right over the living resources
of the zone adjacent to their territorial sea.
6. Referring to articles 54 and 55, he pointed out that
the rights and duties of all States, coastal or other-
wise, in respect of the conservation measures referred
to in articles 51 and 52, were not qualified by con-
ditions as were the rights of the coastal State. It was
illogical, in his opinion, that a right emanating from
a special interest should be more limited in scope than
a right based on a general interest. Conservation
measures should be based on scientific evidence and
findings but, as was pointed out in paragraph 56 of the
Report of the International Technical Conference on
the Conservation of the Living Resources of the Sea
held in Rome in 1955,1 the problem was to reach agree-
ment on the basis of such findings.
7. Article 55 in its present form would create more
difficulties than it solved and would render the coastal
State's rights nugatory. The Indian representative had
indicated the correct approach (5th meeting). The
French delegation's amendment to article 55 (A/
CONF.13/C.3/L.3), on the other hand, would, if
adopted, make the conservation system completely un-
acceptable to a large number of States.
8. The system for the settlement of disputes described
in article 57 had been widely criticized, and it seemed
that States were not prepared to accept compulsory
arbitration. Other methods must therefore be sought;
and he suggested, for example, the establishment of a
widely representative United Nations body under the
Economic and Social Council. Alternatively, a special
fisheries body might be set up under Article 57 of the
United Nations Charter, or else a division concerned
with the conservation of the living resources of the
high seas might be established in the Food and Agri-
culture Organization of the United Nations. Yet an-
other mode of settlement of disputes was that referred
to in the Mexican proposal (A/CONF.13/C.3/L.1).

9. Mr. ALVAREZ (Uruguay) said that, under its terms
of reference, the Conference was empowered to create
international law of universal application. For ac-
cording to article 38 of the Statute of the International
Court of Justice treaties constituted the principal source
of international law, and General Assembly resolution
1105 (XI) expressly mentioned "one or more inter-
national conventions" (operative paragraph 2). That
provision should be read in conjunction with para-
graph 1 of Article 13 of the Charter, which spoke, in
sub-paragraph a, of the "progressive development of
international law". Some representatives had said that
many of the new provisions drafted by the Interna-
tional Law Commission were anything but progressive ;
his delegation did not share that view, though admit-
tedly the emphasis on certain principles was misplaced.
10. He noted with satisfaction that the rational ex-
ploitation of the living resources of the high seas had
been recognized; in Uruguay such exploitation was

1 United Nations publication, Sales No. : 1955.II.B.2.



Ninth meeting — 17 March 1958 19

carried on under the supervision of a special scientific
body. The principle of the conservation of the living
resources of the high seas proclaimed in article 50 also
met a long-standing need.
11. His delegation still felt, however, that the neces-
sary balance between the vital interests of the
coastal State and the rights of other States had not
been achieved in the International Law Commission's
draft, which required considerable amendment, as Uru-
guay had already pointed out in the Sixth Committee of
the General Assembly at its Eleventh Session.
12. Any attempt to determine which State was com-
petent to adopt conservation measures should take into
account three basic interests that should be reconciled
— the international interest, the coastal State's inte-
rests and the interests of third States. His delegation
considered that the coastal State was competent to
adopt conservation measures relating to those areas of
the high seas which were adjacent to its territorial sea.
Its competence to do so was a special power conferred
upon it by international law, regardless of whether it
exploited the resources affected or not. It was both a
right and also a duty imposed by the international
community in the general interest. That competence
of the coastal State was complemented by the right of
any other State, should it feel that the conservation
measures adopted by the coastal State were unsuitable,
biased or inadequate, to set in motion as a last resort
the compulsory arbitration machinery provided for in
article 57.
13. The competence of the coastal State could be
limited to the continental shelf, and in the absence of
such a shelf its scope should be determined by reference
to existing circumstances. His delegation, in short, con-
sidered that the competence to adopt conservation
measures had been attributed to the coastal State by
the international community for the following reasons:
first, it was in the best geographical position; secondly,
it had the greatest interest in conservation; thirdly, in
cases where the coastal State had a continental shelf,
there was an undeniable connexion between the living
resources of the continental shelf and those of the
superjacent water and, hence, the exploitation of the
one was directly related to that of the other. The
fourth reason was the existence of special economic
circumstances.
14. His delegation had stated its views concerning the
first two reasons at the meeting of the Inter-American
Council of Jurists held at Mexico City in January 1956,
when it had said that foreign fishing fleets had not
the same interest as the coastal State in the conser-
vation of living resources.1 The validity of the third
reason was clearly demonstrated in document A/
CONF./13/13 prepared by the Food and Agriculture
Organization of the United Nations. In that connexion
he emphasized the importance of certain forms of ex-
ploration and exploitation of the continental shelf, such
as oil prospecting, and pointed out that such work could
directly affect, by contamination, the living resources
in the waters of the continental shelf. The importance
of such factors was reflected in paragraph 1 of ar-
ticle 48 and in article 71. The coastal State was thus

1 See Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1956,
Vol. II (A/CN.4/SER.A/1956/Add.l), pp. 237 et seq.

best qualified to determine what steps should be taken
to remedy the situation in respect of all forms of ex-
ploitation, bringing them into harmony as required.
The validity of the fourth reason had been recognized
by the Commission in its commentary on article 59,
under the heading of " Claims of exclusive fishing
rights, on the basis of special economic circumstances ".
15. He proceeded to describe the conditions under
which the coastal State should exercise its obligatory
competence. First, the conservation measures it
adopted should take into account the interests of all
the States affected by them, and it should endeavour
to have them adopted by means of international agree-
ments. Secondly, they should be supported by ade-
quate scientific proof of their necessity and based on
appropriate scientific findings, should not discriminate
against foreign fishermen, and should conform to prin-
ciples of equity in the distribution of the produce of
the resources concerned. Thirdly, where they did not
already exist, regional fishing commissions should be
set up, and their recommendations should be taken
into account by the coastal State, which would have
to show good cause for any failure to conform to them.
16. That system would not in any way impair the rights
of the nationals of other States to fish in the high seas;
the exercise of any right was limited to a certain ex-
tent by the common interest and by the exercise of
similar rights by other parties.
17. With respect to conservation measures in areas of
the high seas not adjacent to the coast of the coastal
State, his delegation agreed in principle with the pro-
visions of the draft but considered that any such
measures should fulfil the requirements laid down with
respect to the coastal State in preceding paragraphs.
18. With regard to article 57, his delegation reaffirmed
the traditional standpoint of Uruguay, which was in
favour of unilateral summons and automatic arbitration.
In connexion with the wording of article 57, he said
that the personal qualifications required of the mem-
bers of the arbitral commission under paragraph 3
should be of a general character, and apply in the cir-
cumstances envisaged in paragraph 2.
19. Article 58 should be amended so as to require the
arbitral commission, in awards concerning adjacent
areas of the high seas, to take into account the coastal
State's special interest in the conservation of the living
resources of those areas. Article 60 should be similarly
amended to make more ample provision for the in-
terest of the coastal State.
20. The interest of certain coastal States in the ex-
clusive exploitation of specific stocks or specific areas
which was based on special economic circumstances
should be placed, for purposes of international law, on
the same footing as the "principle of abstention". His
delegation would support the establishment of a working
group to study the matter.

21. Mr. HAN (Republic of Korea) said that fishing
was a vital part of his country's economic life. Korea
subscribed to the principle of the freedom of the high
seas but considered that no State had a right to the
unlimited exercise of that freedom to the detriment of
the interests of other States, particularly in the matter
of fishing.



20 Summary records

22. New regulations governing fishing on the high seas
were needed to meet the situation created by modern
intensive exploitation methods and to prevent over-
fishing and the exhaustion of fish stocks, including
bottom fish. The efforts being made by the coastal
States in that direction were based on their legitimate
claims to the exploitation and conservation of the
living resources in coastal waters. Recognition of their
claims would obviously be in the interest of the inter-
national community, since any State that engaged in
unrestricted fishing in total disregard of the coastal
fisheries of another State was in fact abusing the free-
dom of fishing.
23. His delegation considered that articles 54 and 55
did not go far enough in protecting the interests of a
coastal State which depended on the conservation of
the living resources of the sea for the survival of its
people. The coastal State should, on the basis of scien-
tific findings, enjoy an exclusive right to control and
regulate fishing activities over a reasonable distance in
the high seas adjacent to its territorial waters. For not
only was the coastal State best placed to evaluate the
need for conservation measures, but also such fisheries
should be protected in the interests of its nationals; the
sacrifices of the coastal State in applying conservation
measures should not be ignored. In any event, it would
be quite unreasonable to put coastal and non-coastal
States on the same footing from the point of view of
the distribution of the world's food supply.
24. Unless the exclusive right of the coastal State was
recognized, the living resources in its coastal waters
would be threatened with irrational exploitation by
large fishing fleets. States wishing to fish in any area
of the high seas adjacent to the territorial waters of a
coastal State which had already adopted conservation
measures should approach that State with a view to
reaching a suitable agreement. Moreover, if the con-
servation measures adopted by a coastal State were
made equally applicable to its own nationals and to the
nationals of other states fishing in that area, the special
interests of the coastal State and the general interests
of the international community would be well protected.
The right of the coastal State to adopt such unilateral
measures was recognized in principle in a number of
international fishing conventions in which an obligation
to abstain from fishing was imposed on non-coastal
States. His delegation supported the principle that the
coastal State had a pre-emptive right to control and
regulate fishing in the case of specific stocks in
designated areas and felt that that principle should be
extended to cover all the living resources in those
areas.
25. His delegation was in general agreement with the
requirements stipulated in paragraph 2 of article 55,
but felt that in determining the need for conservation
measures the sacrifices and efforts made by the coastal
State to apply and enforce such conservation measures
should be taken into consideration. The economic con-
ditions which necessitated conservation measures should
similarly be taken into account. The draft should there-
fore include provisions stipulating expressly that in
cases of disagreement the special interests of the
coastal State would take precedence over the interests
of other States wishing to fish in the areas concerned.
Such provisions would improve the chances of a satis-

factory settlement of such disputes and it was for that
reason that his delegation favoured the principle of
optional rather than compulsory arbitration.

26. Mr. CIEGLEWICZ (Poland) said that his country
was co-operating actively with others in scientific re-
search into the living resources of the sea, with a view
to their conservation, and was a party to a number
of international instruments concerning the regulation
of fisheries. Poland was not interested only in an im-
mediate increase in its total catch, but hoped rather,
by international collaboration, to increase, or at least
to maintain, the optimum sustainable yield from the
living resources of the high seas.
27. In view of the complexity of the problem of con-
servation of the living resources of the sea and in the
light of experience, his delegation considered that, so
far as certain aspects of conservation and regulation
were concerned, the Conference should confine itself
to adopting general provisions relating to international
co-operation; for special biological or economic con-
ditions, which prevailed in certain regions and were
not found generally in other seas or geographical
regions, would be better covered by regional agree-
ments. His delegation supported the principle indicated
in article 52 that two or more States engaged in fishing
in any area of the high seas should, when necessary,
enter into bilateral or multilateral agreements to pre-
scribe the necessary measures for the conservation of
the resources in question. Such an approach to the
problem of the regulation of fisheries would, it seemed,
facilitate agreement among a greater number of States.
28. His delegation regarded the draft articles con-
cerning fishing in the high seas as a valuable basis for
detailed discussion. The draft very properly confirmed
the generally accepted freedom of fishing (article 49).
Since fishing techniques had been improving rapidly,
and fishing had been intensified and was still develop-
ing, it was obvious that over-fishing was a real danger,
and that more intensive exploitation might lead to the
depletion of the living resources of the sea. His dele-
gation therefore approved the provision in article 49
regarding the obligations of States in the matter of the
conservation of those resources.
29. The definition of " conservation of the living re-
sources of the high seas" contained in article 50 fol-
lowed in general the definition adopted by the Rome
Conference of 1955 and represented a progressive
development of the law of the sea. His delegation was
also prepared to endorse, in general, the new principle
expressed in article 53, by which newcomers who en-
gaged in fishing in a given area of the high seas had
a duty to observe any conservation measures already
in force in that area, but believed that the principle
could only be applied on the understanding that such
measures did not discriminate against foreign fisher-
men.

30. He entertained some doubts regarding the "prin-
ciple of abstention" mentioned in the commentary to
article 53. The principle had been discussed at the
Rome Conference but had not been accepted as
generally applicable for it implied unequal treatment of
newcomers to a fishing area and was incompatible with
the principle of equality of rights of all States as re-



Ninth meeting — 17 March 1958 21

gards fishing in the high seas, a principle which was
implicit in draft articles 27 and 49.
31. Article 55 would require most careful discussion
by the Committee, since its provision concerning uni-
lateral action on the high seas might in practice give
rise to many technical or economic difficulties. Tech-
nical difficulties might arise from the biological pecu-
liarities of certain fish-stocks (the distant migrations of
species, for instance), and economic difficulties from
the unequal repercussions on the fishermen of various
countries of the limitation of catches and changes in
fishing methods. He thought it unlikely that article 55
would be acceptable, since discussions at the Rome
Conference of 1955 and at the Inter-American Spe-
cialized Conference on Conservation of Natural Re-
sources held in Ciudad Trujillo in 1956 had indicated
that there was no agreement among States on the nature
and scope of the special interest of the coastal State.
32. As had already been stressed by representatives of
other countries, most careful attention should be given
to defining the relation between the new provisions of
the law of the sea and the provisions of existing con-
ventions on conservation of the living resources of the
sea, and the Conference should try to profit by the
successful experience of the many countries which were
parties to international agreements regulating fisheries
on the high seas.

33. Mr. POPOVIC (Yugoslavia) said that, very pro-
perly, the draft articles contained some provisions
which represented a progressive development of inter-
national law or were on the point of becoming rules
of international law. There was, however, one fact
which the International Law Commission had not fully
taken into account. While the development of modern
techniques had enabled certain countries to build large
fishing fleets, the same was not, unfortunately, true of
the under-developed countries, whose fishermen could
not venture too far from their national waters because
they did not possess modern fishing equipment. The
Commission's draft articles had proclaimed the free-
dom of fishing on the high seas for ships of all flags,
but for the fishermen of technically under-developed
countries that freedom was illusory in those areas of
the high seas which were not adjacent to their ter-
ritorial sea, because they had no practical possibility
of making use of the freedom. It was true that in ar-
ticle 55 the Commission had recognized the right of
the coastal State to adopt unilateral measures of con-
servation, but that right was so hedged about with con-
ditions that its practical value was very doubtful. Even
if the conditions were to be waived or mitigated, the
right of the small and under-developed countries to
adopt unilateral measures of conservation would remain
illusory, if they were not allowed to exclude — at
least from an area of reasonable breadth adjacent to
their territorial sea — foreign fishing fleets which could
exhaust the area in a matter of a few days.
34. He recalled that the regulation of fisheries on an
international level had been discussed at the Conference
for the Codification of International Law held at The
Hague in 1930, and suggested that the failure of that
Conference had been due to the rigid attitude adopted
by some countries towards a problem of vital interest
for the majority of coastal States — namely, the question

of the breadth of the territorial sea and the exclusive
right of coastal States to fish in any area of the high
seas adjacent to their territorial sea. Experience since
The Hague Conference had shown that the trend of
international law had been away from the standpoint
then adopted by those States, which had been con-
trary to the actual necessities of contemporary life.
35. Turning to article 54, he suggested that the "spe-
cial interest" of the coastal State would be best pro-
tected by the recognition of that State's exclusive right
to engage in fishing and to exploit other marine re-
sources in a belt of the high seas adjacent to its ter-
ritorial sea and by permitting such a State to adopt
unilateral measures for regulating and controlling
fishing activities in a further belt of the same area
necessary for conserving the living resources of the high
seas. Unilateral measures should not discriminate
against foreign fishermen. Only in that way would it
be possible for small States to fish on the high seas.
36. The zone in which the coastal State should have
the exclusive right to fish should not exceed, together
with the territorial sea, a breadth of twelve miles. In
that way all States would be placed on the same footing
so far as fishing rights were concerned, even if it
proved impossible to adopt a uniform breadth for the
territorial sea. By a law of 1 December 1948, Yugo-
slavia had established a four-mile zone adjacent to its
territorial sea, within which it had reserved the ex-
clusive right of fishing for its nationals. A large number
of States had also ensured the exclusive fishing rights
of their nationals in an area of the high seas adjacent
to their territorial seas by establishing conservation
zones for all or some marine resources or by extending
their sovereignty or jurisdiction, for the purposes of
conservation and utilization of the living resources of
the high seas, over a given maritime zone. It was there-
fore clear that the right of exclusive fishing on the part
of a coastal State in any area of the high seas adjacent
to its territorial sea, up to a reasonable limit, was an
absolute necessity for the coastal State; and that, he
submitted, was the only solution likely to lead to a
reconciliation of conflicting views regarding the breadth
of the territorial sea.
37. His delegation did not subscribe to the view ex-
pressed by the United Kingdom representatives in the
First and Third Committees that the problem of con-
servation could not be solved unilaterally because fish
such as tuna and herring did not recognize any bar-
riers. On the contrary, the data concerning quantities
of fish caught in coastal waters, submitted by the
United States representative in the First Committee and
the United Kingdom representative in the Third Com-
mittee, proved that it was possible to adopt efficient
unilateral conservation measures in coastal waters.
Those measures were particularly necessary in cases
where the intensity of fishing in a given area was greater
than the actual reproduction capacity of existing
stocks, a circumstance that led to over-fishing. In order
to safeguard the livelihood of its small fishing under-
takings, a coastal State with technically under-developed
equipment would, in that case, be compelled to estab-
lish a moderate fishing reserve adjacent to its territorial
sea to preserve that area both biologically and eco-
nomically for its coastal population.
38. Some delegations had suggested that the recog-



22 Summary records

nition of such a right on the part of the coastal State
would make it impossible for questions of conservation
to be regulated by bilateral or multilateral instruments.
His delegation, on the other hand, believed that the
recognition of the right of the coastal State to adopt
unilateral measures would have a salutary influence on
the undisciplined fishermen of other States, inducing
them to seek a solution of the question by agreement
with the respective coastal States.
39. He fully appreciated the motives which had
prompted the representatives of El Salvador and the
United States to raise the question of the " principle of
abstention ", but felt that it was unlikely that the prob-
lem could be solved by the present conference, owing
to insufficient study from the biological, technical and
political points of view.
40. His delegation shared the hope expressed by the
Indian representative (5th meeting) that the Committee
would have an opportunity to examine the dangers
threatening the living resources of the high seas as a
result of pollution by the discharge of oil, by test ex-
plosions of nuclear weapons, by the dumping of radio-
active waste and by other harmful agents.
41. His Government was in favour of the peaceful
settlement of disputes among States by arbitration, but
did not believe that the type of arbitration proposed
in article 57 (particularly in view of the functions at-
tributed to the arbitral commission under article 58)
was the most appropriate. For example, the arbitration
proposed in article 57, paragraph 3, was not arbitration
between States, but statutory arbitration by a tribunal,
and could not therefore lead to a friendly solution of
disputes. Further, the draft articles had failed to
establish the criteria on the basis of which the arbitral
commission should reach its decisions, and there was
a danger that the arbitral commission might itself be-
come a legislator. His country could not accept any
arbitration in regard to its actions resulting from its
exclusive right of fishing in any area of the high seas
adjacent to its territorial sea.

42. Mr. OZERE (Canada) observed that, whatever
understanding might be reached on the extent of the
territorial sea or the contiguous zones, there would
remain many problems affecting the conservation and
management of sea fisheries which would not be solved
by the simple formula of drawing lines in the seas.
That was not to say that the adoption of an exclusive
fishing zone would not be of definite benefit to those
countries which, like his own, had developed their
fisheries mainly along their own coasts.
43. When the time came for detailed consideration of
articles 49 to 60, his delegation would put forward
suggestions for the clarification of some of the articles.
For the moment he would refer only to one very im-
portant aspect of fisheries conservation which was not
covered in the draft articles, and which he felt should
be included — namely, the situation where one or more
States had been actively engaged for a number of years
in a special fishery involving only their own nationals,
and where scientific investigation had demonstrated
that the fishery was being fully exploited. Such a case
involved heavy expenditure on scientific investigation
and sacrifice by the participants in carrying out the
necessary conservation measures. His delegation be-

lieved that the State or States involved should have
some assurance, as an encouragement to continue
effective conservation measures, that the catching of
such fish would be limited to those who had contributed
to their maintenance. For purposes of illustration, he
referred to the salmon fishery off the Pacific coast of
North America. Canada alone, or in some instances
jointly with the United States, had spent many millions
of dollars in research, in supervision of the migrating
salmon and of fishing operations, in providing hatch-
eries and in building expensive fishways. Moreover,
in its desire to protect the salmon, Canada had deli-
berately refrained from tapping the potential source
of hydro-electric energy of some of the rivers in which
the fish bred.
44. That particular problem had been discussed at the
Rome Conference of 1955, where reference had been
made to the "principle of abstention", the essence of
which was that, where a stock of fish was under such
scientific investigation, management and regulation as
was required to obtain the maximum sustainable yield,
and where an increase in fishing would not be expected
to result in any substantial increase in the sustainable
yield, then States whose nationals had not in recent
years participated in the fishery should abstain from
fishing the stock. His delegation urged that the adoption
of such a principle was essential, if certain fisheries,
such as the salmon and halibut fisheries in the North
Pacific, were to be preserved. It should be remembered
that principles of conservation in relation to high seas
fisheries were of recent origin, and the Committee
should not be deterred by the fact that a given prin-
ciple might at the moment apply in a few instances
only.
45. In reply to the statement of the representative of
the Soviet Union (6th meeting) that the principle
of " abstention " represented a restraint of the freedom
of the seas, he would say that the Conference was
assembled for the purpose of reaching agreement on
certain rules relating to the sea, and such rules
necessarily involved restraints voluntarily assumed in the
common interest of conservation of the living resources
of the high seas.

46. Mr. DE FONSEKA (Ceylon) observed that, as an
island, his country was keenly interested in fishing and
in any proposals for framing international laws regu-
lating fisheries in the sea, whether it be the contiguous
zone, the high seas or the continental shelf. For many
centuries the coastal population of Ceylon had de-
pended for its livelihood on what it obtained from the
sea, and fisheries were still an important item in his
country's economy.
47. His delegation was in general agreement with the
provisions of draft articles 49 to 60, but there were
some matters on which it must reserve the right to
express disagreement at a later stage and, if necessary,
submit amendments.
48. In particular, he believed that the right to fish on
the high seas given to all States by article 49 carried
with it an obligation to adopt the necessary conser-
vation measures and that any neglect to adopt such
measures would be an abuse of the right. His dele-
gation would therefore welcome the modification of
article 49 suggested by the United Kingdom repre-



Tenth meeting — 18 March 1958 23

sentative (7th meeting) to the effect that the duty to
conserve would be closely bound to the right to fish.
49. He wished to make a reservation concerning ar-
ticles 54 and 55 and the suggestions made by certain
delegations that the rights of a coastal State should be
extended further.
50. Turning to the question of exclusive fishing rights
by reason of special economic circumstances, he agreed
that it was necessary to grant some protection to coastal
States, particularly under-developed ones, until they
were able to reach the levels of efficiency and moder-
nization already attained by the advanced fisheries of
the more highly developed countries, but that pro-
tection should only be afforded to the small boat
fisheries of those States and not to the more highly
organized and capitalized concerns.
51. His delegation was also in agreement with the prin-
ciple of abstention and with the explanation given in
sub-paragraph (d) of paragraph 4 of the commentary
on article 53.

The meeting rose at 5.40 p.m.

TENTH MEETING

Tuesday, 18 March 1958, at 3.10 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. BOCOBO (PHILIPPINES), MR. GO-
LEMANOV (BULGARIA), MR. SHAVIT (ISRAEL), MR.
MALLIN (IRELAND) AND MR. MELO LECAROS (CHILE)

1. Mr. BOCOBO (Philippines), referring to the first
paragraph of article 54, took exception to the argument
that recognition of the special position of the coastal
State departed from the rule that high seas fishing
regulations were valid only vis-a-vis nations consenting
thereto and that to grant coastal States a right to regu-
late fishing unilaterally was contrary to the principle of
the freedom of the high seas. He agreed that the free-
dom of the high seas included freedom of fishing, but
pointed out that indiscriminate fishing which was car-
ried out in the name of that freedom and which de-
prived the populations of coastal States of their preferen-
tial rights to the living resources with which nature had
endowed them was an abuse of that freedom. His dele-
gation therefore supported the widely accepted prin-
ciple, rightly incorporated in the draft, that the coastal
State had a special interest in the conservation of the
living resources in any area of the high seas adjacent to
its territorial sea. The final convention should, how-
ever, be more specific and state categorically that the
population of a coastal State had a preferential right in
that respect. In the event of a dispute the inalienable
rights of that population should have precedence over
the claims of fishing fleets from distant States. In short,
the right of other States to fish in areas adjacent to the

territorial sea of a coastal State should be exercised only
on condition that the livelihood of the population of
the coastal State was fully safeguarded.
2. Article 49 should be amended so as to prevent any
abuse of the freedom of fishing on the high seas. Thus,
a coastal State whose interests had been reasonably
guaranteed should never adopt conservation measures
which unjustly restricted the rights of other States. Nor
should the nationals of distant States abuse the free-
dom of fishing in such areas by catching excessive
quantities of fish. Articles 50 to 59 by themselves were
not enough to safeguard against abuse of the freedom
of fishing, for even though a specific stock might be
conserved, the problem of what constituted a fair catch
remained. The nationals of a distant State should not be
allowed to catch unlimited amounts of fish to the
detriment of the population of a coastal State simply
because they used modern intensive fishing methods.

3. Mr. GOLEMANOV (Bulgaria) said that, true to its
traditional policy, his Government would co-operate
wholeheartedly in attempts to solve outstanding pro-
blems relating to fishing and the conservation of the
living resources of the high seas.
4. The use of modern fishing techniques threatened
certain species of fish with extinction, and previous
speakers had already drawn attention to the unscrupu-
lous exploitation methods of private fishing fleets. The
need for conservation measures to prevent the exhaus-
tion of the living resources of the high seas was there-
fore fully justified and the fact that freedom of fishing
was proclaimed in article 49 in no way precluded the
adoption of such measures, which were in the interest
of the whole international community.
5. His delegation felt that the Committee could and
should study the important question of atomic weapon
tests on the high seas and that the Conference should
proclaim as a general principle that no State had the
richt to test nuclear weapons on the high seas in view
of the danger involved for the living resources of the
seas and human life. The Indian representative in the
First Committee had adopted a similar position in re-
ferring to the danger of atomic weapon tests to
navigation.
6. When the Committee came to examine the indivi-
dual articles assigned to it, it should keep in mind the
legitimate interests and rights of all countries and use
as its point of departure the principle of the freedom
of the high seas. That principle placed an obligation
on States to refrain from anv acts likely to restrict the
use of the high seas by other States or their nationals.
7. One of the aspects of the freedom of the high seas
was the right of nationals of all countries to engage in
fishing therein. For certain countries, fishing was vital
to the equilibrium of their national economy or to the
livelihood of their population. Consequently, when the
Committee embarked upon the codification of the fish-
eries articles, it would have to harmonize the principle
of the freedom of the high seas — namely, the interests
of the international community — with the economic
and other interests of individual countries.
8. Although his delegation had no objection to articles
49, 50 and 51, it was unable to support the principle
of compulsory arbitration set forth in paragraph 2 of



24 Summary records

article 52 and in paragraph 2 of article 53. Nor could it
agree that the " principle of abstention " mentioned in
the commentary on article 53 should be firmly estab-
lished in international practice, for it regarded it ra-
ther as a formula representing an attempt to create
privileges for certain Powers. The Commission had
rightly refused to incorporate it in its draft since that
would only have led to confusion and difficulty. Arti-
cle 53 as a whole was not sufficiently clear, and seemed
to create a form of discrimination against newcomers,
for which, in his view, there was no justification.
9. The provisions of paragraph 1 of article 54 were
perfectly logical since they arose out of the interests of
the coastal State. But the interests of the international
community also had to be taken into account. In that
connexion, his delegation fully shared the opinion ex-
pressed by the USSR that geographical factors as well
as the behaviour of various stocks of fish should be
taken into consideration.
10. His delegation could, under certain conditions, ap-
prove the principle of unilateral action embodied in ar-
ticle 55, but felt that the phrase " reasonable period of
time " should be explained. The requirements listed in
paragraph 2 of article 55 were somewhat vague and
could lead to difficulties and disputes, since they lent
themselves to various interpretations. The article there-
fore needed some clarification.
11. The procedure proposed for the settlement of dis-
putes in articles 53 to 57 rested on the principle of
compulsory arbitration and in certain cases the decision
of the arbitrators would assume a legislative character.
For that reason, his delegation, among many others,
was unable to accept it, and would therefore support
the Mexican proposal (A/CONF.13/C.3/L.1).

12. Mr. SHAVIT (Israel) said that the acid test of the
Committee's work would be whether it strengthened or
weakened the principle of the freedom of fishing as one
of the fundamental freedoms of the sea. Freedom to
fish on the high seas must include freedom to seek new
fishing grounds and to carry out scientific surveys for
that purpose.
13. Conservation had both legal and biological aspects,
and these must be co-ordinated. Conservation measures
were commendable when based on scientific research,
but there was a tendency to adopt them simply as a
precaution and then the urge to prevent over-fishing
might easily lead to under-fishing. Large fish, if not
caught in sufficient numbers, would deprive younger
fish of their food and in those circumstances over-
regulation would reduce the fish population and conse-
quently the available supply of proteins for human con-
sumption. Proper conservation measures that repre-
sented a mean between under- and over-fishing could be
adopted only after a throrough scientific investigation.
14. Physically and biologically the basic problem be-
fore the Committee was essentially a regional problem,
and certain measures that might be appropriately applied
to wide stretches of ocean could prove disastrous if ap-
plied in a relatively small sea like the Mediterranean.
The Conference should therefore determine which pro-
blems were unsuitable for general settlement and refer
them to the appropriate regional expert bodies.
15. He noted that a number of draft articles with a defi-

nite bearing on fisheries problems had been referred to
other committees, and expressed the hope that joint
meetings of committees would be arranged whenever
necessary. For example, no regime could be drawn up
for the continental shelf without combining the bio-
logist's knowledge of sea fauna with the geologist's
knowledge of the seabed. Other examples were to be
found in the provisions of articles 68 and 47.
16. The text of and reactions to article 53 had been a
source of satisfaction to his Government, which shared
the interpretation of the Soviet Union, Netherlands and
Greek representatives — namely, that its purpose was to
safeguard rights and a fair share of the world's wealth
for newcomers.
17. He observed that article 55 was permissive in form
and wondered what would happen if the unilateral meas-
ures mentioned there were unjunstified. It might be wise
in that case to stipulate that the good offices of the
Food and Agriculture Organization of the United
Nations should be invoked. That might render un-
necessary the Italian suggestions concerning the living
resources of the high seas reproduced in the Comments
by Governments (A/CONF.13/5, section 10).

18. Mr. MALLIN (Ireland) observed that, at an early
stage in the discussions of the International Law Com-
mission, and at the International Technical Conference
on the Conservation of the Living Resources of the Sea
held in Rome in 1955, it had been recognized that exist-
ing law on the conservation of the living resources of
the high seas was deficient, firstly because it provided
no adequate protection of marine fauna against exter-
mination and secondly because the coastal States or
other States directly interested were not sufficiently pro-
tected against wasteful and predatory exploitation of
fisheries by foreign nationals. Accordingly, in draft ar-
ticles 54, 55 and 56, the special interest of the coastal
State was explicitly recognized and an attempt had been
made to render that recognition effective by conferring
on that State the right of unilateral action for conser-
vation purposes, subject to certain qualifications.
19. It was generally agreed that where particular
methods or unrestricted intensity of fishing, or the use of
nets with meshes below certain sizes, or a continuance
of fishing during certain periods were pursued without
restraint in any sea area, there could be a serious re-
duction in the fishing population in that area. Where
such activity was conducted by large foreign fleets in
sea areas adjacent to a coastal State the reduction could
render fishing there by vessels of the coastal State un-
economic. The ultimate result would be felt well within
the State's exclusive fishery limits, and the narrower
those limits the more pronounced the effect.
20. Serious repercussions of that kind might arise long
before there was any great danger of extermination of
fish stocks, or even before the stocks were diminished
to such an extent that they would require a very long
period for recovery, but the nationals of a coastal state
might suffer seriously during the depression, however
brief. The problem was in large measure economic as
well as biological, since it arose in the first instance
from the conflict between the large readily transferable
fleets of long-range vessels and the craft with a more
circumscribed radius belonging to the coastal State.
Long-range fishing fleets could move into distant fish-



Tenth meeting — 18 March 1958 25

eries and pursue a fishing activity so intensive and so
destructive that, failing effective and urgent measures of
control, a coastal State might be driven into wholly un-
economic development in an effort to preserve its fish-
ing industry. At that stage the intruders, having reduced
the productivity of the area to a level below that neces-
sary for their own profitable operation, could move
to fresh areas, leaving the coastal State with a
thoroughly depleted unremunerative fishery. Nor was it
any answer to say that the economics were the same for
all States, coastal or otherwise, for the logical conclu-
sion of that line of reasoning would be that the
nationals of every State should fish off any coast other
than their own.
21. Serious consideration should therefore be given to
the proposal that a coastal State should have the right
unilaterally to adopt and enforce against fishing ves-
sels of all States in a belt of the high seas of a speci-
fied breadth adjacent to its exclusive fishery zone what-
ever measures were necessary to put a stop to over-
exploitation. Such measures need not injure the real
interests of other States, for safeguards could be formu-
lated to protect non-coastal States. Article 55, indeed,
specifically provided that no conservation measures
might discriminate against foreign fishermen.
22. On the other hand, articles 54, 55 and 56 in their
existing form failed to give adequate protection to a
coastal State, or even to non-coastal State, since they
were based purely on biological considerations and were
not backed by any sanctions. It was true the basis on
which many of the existing conventions on the regu-
lation of fisheries were founded was biological. But
adequate biological evidence generally took a long time
to collect and, even when it had been accumulated, its
interpretation was or might be difficult. Even when con-
ventions had been accepted, some of the parties to them
might have difficulty in enforcing their provisions. He
suggested, therefore, that a coastal State should have
authority, backed by the necessary sanctions, to en-
force within a belt of sea of moderate width adjacent to
its own waters regulations which had been accepted in
conventions to which that State was a party. Such a
decision would provide only partial amelioration of
the present unsatisfactory position and might give rise
to certain difficulties, but it had the advantage of being
immediately applicable, of ensuring that conservation
measures already agreed were fully enforced, and of
being non-discriminatory.
23. Articles 51, 52 and 53 were likewise deficient in
that they were based purely on biological factors and
that there was no means of enforcing them.
24. With regard to articles 57 and 59, his delegation
had no objection in principle to the adoption of arbi-
tration measures, but felt that some modification of
the procedure proposed in those articles might be
desirable.

25. Mr. MELO LECAROS (Chile) reminded the Com-
mittee that the purpose of the Conference, as defined
by the General Assembly, was not simply to codify al-
ready existing and accepted rules, but to participate in
the progressive development of international law and
to legislate on matters which lay outside the strictly
juridical sphere, in such a way as to safeguard existing
legitimate interests in the sea.

26. His delegation believed that on the discussions in
the Third Committee and on the decisions reached by
it might depend the success or failure of the greatest
effort ever made to reach general agreement on the re-
gime of the sea. The truth of that statement could be
demonstrated by a brief review of the work of the other
committees.
27. The First Committee was required to study the
draft articles relating to the territorial sea. But, before
agreement could be reached on them, it was essential
to solve many specific problems connected with an ex-
tension of the territorial sea. The necessity of proceed-
ing in that manner had been appreciated by the First
Committee, which, like the Conference for the Codifi-
cation of International Law held at The Hague in 1930,
had asked for a postponement of a decision on that
point.
28. The First Committee would also be examining the
draft article on the contiguous zone, which might, as
the United Kingdom and United States representatives
had suggested in the First Committee, be the key to the
solution of the entire problem. But it should be remem-
bered that The Hague Conference had failed precisely
because it had refused to adopt the idea of the con-
tiguous zone. The position in which the present confe-
rence found itself was much the same, with one dif-
ference only, that it was required not only to codify
existing principles, but to establish new principles to
deal with new problems.
29. The Second Committee's task was to examine the
articles relating to the high seas, in which the freedom
of the high seas had been defined in much more ab-
solute terms than could be applied to the freedom of
fishing. The strict definition proposed would be unac-
ceptable unless provision was at the same time made
to restrict the freedom of fishing within its true limits.
The origin of the freedom of fishing was quite different
from that of the right of navigation ; and, if the latter
was not absolute but was subject to exceptions, there
was all the more reason why exceptions should be ap-
plied in the case of the former, particularly when it was
remembered that the success of the Conference might
depend on them.

30. In the Fourth Committee, which dealt with the
articles relating to the continental shelf, the generally
accepted view was that the waters superjacent to the
shelf should be subject to the high seas regime. On the
other hand, some countries with an adjacent continen-
tal shelf had claimed a special regime for the waters
super jacent to it, so that they could regulate fishing
and adopt measures for the conservation of the living
resources of the sea. It was clear, therefore, that the
agreements reached by the Third Committee would
have a decisive influence on any resolutions which the
Fourth Committee might adopt.

31. Turning to articles 49 to 60, he said that his coun-
try's general attitude to their provisions was well known.
In 1947, Chile had claimed sovereignty over a 200-mile
zone with the object of conserving the natural resources
of the sea. That claim had been based on a similar de-
claration made by the President of the United States,
Mr. Truman, in 1945. In 1952, Chile had signed a joint
declaration with Ecuador and Peru, having the same
end in view, and Costa Rica had subscribed to it later.



26 Summary records

Those documents set forth the main aspirations of his
country, which could be summed up as consisting of
the special right of a State to exploit natural resources,
regulate fishing and adopt methods for conserving the
living resources of the sea in a zone adjacent to its ter-
ritorial sea. Tn support of that claim he would ask whe-
ther other countries would be prepared to look on with
indifference while foreign fleets, sometimes of no well-
defined nationality, exploited a form of natural wealth
which constituted an essential source of food for people
valiantly struggling to secure even a modest existence.

32. The importance of fisheries to Chile was evident
having regard to its geographical position. Some two-
thirds of its total area was either mountainous or desert
and only one-third was cultivable. Great efforts would
be made to increase agricultural production, but it was
unlikely that the increase would keep pace with the
growth in the population. According to statistics
published by the Food and Agriculture Organization of
the United Nations, 3.2 metric tons of fish per thousand
inhabitants were being landed in the country, which was
the eighth in the world in regard to the quantity of fish
caught per inhabitant.

33. The choice of the 200-mile limit in 1947 had not
been at all fortuitous. It had been based on a serious
study on the effects of the Humbolt current, the outer
fringe of which lay about 200 miles from the Chilean
coast. The scientific arguments in support of his coun-
try's case had been brilliantly expounded by the repre-
sentative of Peru, who had demonstrated the need for
protecting the biological complex, which experts de-
scribed as the " bioma ". Some delegations had argued
that protection should be confined to one or more in-
dividual species. On the other hand, there was no
essential contradiction between the view that all species
should be protected or that some should be protected,
and the protection of the " bioma " did not exclude the
simultaneous conservation of a migratory species. The
essential point was that the resources of the sea should
be protected. Arguments in favour of the freedom of
fishing had been based on the inexhaustibility of those
resources, but they were no longer valid.

34. His country had been particularly interested in one
of the resolutions adopted by the third meeting of the
Inter-American Council of Jurists, held in Mexico in
1956, which attributed to a coastal State the right to
adopt measures of conservation to protect the living
resources of the sea adjacent to its coast. Efforts had
been made to under-estimate the value of that reso-
lution, but he would ask how delegations which quoted
Gidel and other legal authorities could overlook the
considered opinion of distinguished representatives of
the American legal world.
35. At the Inter-American Specialized Conference on
Conservation of Natural Resources held in the same year
it had been recognized that a coastal State had a special
interest in conservation, but later it had been stated that
there was no agreement on the nature or the scope of
that special interest. It was obvious that, on a reso-
lution designed for unanimous adoption, there could
be no agreement if any State dissented, but there was
no doubt that Latin-American legal experts had devel-
oped a principle which was now being applied through-
out the world. If that had been understood in good time,

there would in all probability have been no need to
summon the present conference, and agreement would
have been reached on the law of the sea in more
favourable circumstances during the eleventh session of
the General Assembly.
36. Finally, he pointed out that the International Law
Commission had virtually put the coastal State on the
same footing as a State protecting the interests of its
fishing companies, since the former was only permitted
to adopt measures of conservation if no agreement had
been reached with any other interested State. That
meant that the right to take conservation measures
would rest in the first place with the latter State, while
the State that would suffer most directly from preda-
tory action was only allowed to play a passive and
subsidiary role. In his delegation's view, that provision
was unjust and resembled the open-door policy where-
by the supervision of lunatics was entrusted to the
lunatics themselves. Only a coastal State was in a posi-
tion to adopt a prudent conservation policy untainted
by the motive of profit.

The meeting rose at 4.30 p.m.

ELEVENTH MEETING

Wednesday, 19 March 1958, at 3.20 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Carlos SUCRE (Panama)

Consideration of the draft articles adopted by the
International Law Commission at its eighth session
(articles 49 to 60) (A/3159) (continued)

General debate (continued)

STATEMENTS BY MR. QURESHI (PAKISTAN), MR. OLAFS-
SON (ICELAND), MR. GOHAR (UNITED ARAB REPUB-
LIC), MR. TREJOS FLORES (COSTA RICA) AND MR.
GONCALVES (BRAZIL)

1. Mr. QURESHI (Pakistan) said that, notwithstand-
ing his country's vital interest as a coastal State in ma-
rine fisheries, his Government firmly believed in the
freedom of the high seas, and did not see how the best
interests of mankind could be served by drawing ima-
ginary lines in the ocean. Proclamations of artificial
controls over the sea might satisfy man's desire for ap-
propriation, but could not appease the appetite of the
ever-increasing millions of mouths which had an equal
right to participate in the wealth of the ocean. Fish was
by nature both perishable and renewable, and huma-
nity would be deprived of valuable protein if restric-
tions were imposed before there was a genuine need for
them.
2. The normal aim of commercial fishing was to derive
the maximum sustainable yield, but that was not synony-
mous with keeping stocks at their highest level. While it
was true that fishing depleted stocks below their natu-
ral maximum, it was equally true that it simultaneously
diminished competition for food and permitted a vast
rate of growth for the remaining stock. A well-fished
stock, as distinct from an over-fished one, had a lower
proportion of old and slow-growing fish which were a




